
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

July 13, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

1. Minutes, Second Reading Millage, June 22, 2023 
2. Minutes,  Regular Council Meeting, June 22, 2023 

 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.  Limit reports to 10 
minutes. 

3. Call to Election, November 7, 2023 
4. Keith Howington, Update on City Hall Renovation 

 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

5. Kathryn Williams, Forever Tybee:  Beach benches and swings 
6. Julia Pearce:  Pilgrimage from Tybee Lazaretto to Ghana:  Door of No Return 

 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the public hearings, 
please come forward.  Please limited your comments to 3-5 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

7. Special Review:  Sec 3-100 Beach, 708 Butler Avenue, CFK Properties, LLC 
 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
8. Award Symbioscity RFP, Review of the Land Development Code 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

9. Resolution 2023-: Declare Local Emergency in Connection with Certain Events that 
would overwhelm the capacity of City Resources 

10. First Reading:  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change - Mayor and Council   FOR DISCUSSION 
AND INTRODUCTION 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

11. Bubba Hughes:  Shields Investment, Application for STR   
12. Brian West: 

 Land Bank 
 Remove Dump Fees for Residents 

 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

13. Tybee Island Marine Science Center Minutes 
14. Planning Commission Minutes June 12, 2023 

 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 
should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 

meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. Minutes, Second Reading Millage

- Page 3 -Item #1.



 

City Council Minutes, June 22 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order June 22, 2023 at 10:00AM.  Those in attendance were 
Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, and Jay Burke.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, 
Acting City Manager, and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Nancy DeVetter and Spec Hosti were 
excused.   
 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
      
 
Public Hearings 
Second Reading:  Millage.  Jen Amerell approached Mayor and Council.  She to explain the 
rates.  Dee Matkowski approached Mayor and Council and asked for an explanation of the 
abbreviations on the PT 38 Form.  Ms. Amerell explained.  Monty Parks made a motion to 
approve the roll-back rate at 3.542.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 4-
0.   
 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn.  Brian West seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 4-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 10:10AM 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 4 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes,  Council Meeting, June 22, 2023

- Page 5 -Item #2.



 City Council Minutes, June 22, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, June 8, 2023.  Those in attendance were 
Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  Also attending 
were Michelle Owens, Acting City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City 
Attorney, and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Dr. Gillen was excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes, June 8, 2023 

 Attachments to Minutes, June 8, 2023 

 Approval of Change Order, AD Williams, for grading, graveling and paving of the DPW 

yard to include budget amendments 

 Contract Addendum:  AWR Strategic Consulting, LLC 

 Budget amendment for costs associated with the preparation of June 30th weekend 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 
Jaime Spear approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Spear asked Officer James Bishop, Tybee 
Island Police Department,  to come forward.  Officer Bishop was then recognized as Employee of 
the 1st Quarter 2023.  Mayor Sessions thanked Officer Bishop for his hard work and dedication 
to the City. 
Mayor Sessions invited Eric Reisner, Master Chief, USCG, Tybee Island to the podium.  
Mayor Sessions presented Master Chief Reisner with a Certificate of Appreciation for everything 
Coast Guard Tybee does for the Island.  Chief Reiser thanked Mayor and Council.   
Mayor Sessions invited Mike Hosti to the Diaz.  She then read a Proclamation and presented 
Mr. Hosti with a Key to the City in appreciation for everything he has done for the community. 
 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.   
Cassidi Kendrick approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Kendrick then introduced Holly Lawe, 
Chair, Historic Preservation Commission.  Ms. Lawe gave a presentation to include updates 
from the Commission.  Mayor Sessions thanked her for her dedication to the City.   
 
Chuck Bargeron approached Mayor and Council.  He expressed his concerns with high traffic 
volumes on Lovell and 2nd Avenue.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Bargeron for his comments and 
concerns.  
 
Monty Parks made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Public Hearings 
Second Reading:  FY2024 Budget.  Nancy DeVetter made a motion to approve.  Spec 
Hosti seconded.  Discussion:  Dr. West stated he had concerns regarding the proposed budget 
but they have been addressed by Staff and he is appreciative of Staff taking the time to address 
those concerns.  One of those concerns was the inclusion of a performance review system for 
employees that gives weight on how well they perform, how long been with the organization, and 
things along those lines.  It is his understanding that Staff has a plan to have evaluations on all 
employees by end of year.  His other concern was the compensation study, as he does not feel 
it was representative of our area. After reviewing, all the categories were below the median for 

- Page 6 -Item #2.



our City.   He will now support the proposed budget as his concerns were successfully addressed.   
Voting in favor were Nancy DeVetter, Brian West, Spec Hosti and Monty Parks.  Voting against 
were Barry Brown, and Jay Burke. Motion to approve, 4-2. 
 
Third Reading:  Millage.  Jen Amerell approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Amerell stated the 
City will generate $2.6M in tax revenue with the roll-back rate.  If the City did not do the rollback, 
it would be $2.8, approximately $200,000 in savings.  Monty Parks made a motion to rollback 
the millage rate to 3.542.  Jay Burke seconded.  Voting in favor were Monty Parks, Jay Burke, 
Brian West, Barry Brown and Spec Hosti.  Voting against were Nancy DeVetter.  Motion to 
approve, 5-1. 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
Second Reading:  2023-15A:  Ability to obtain an STR permit for applicants holding a 
building permit for new construction or extensive renovations at the time of adoption 
of the moratorium without public hearings.  Jay Burke recused.  Mr. Hughes  stated 
there is actually two (2) versions of this ordinance.  The one that was actually voted and approved 
on first reading is more similar to the revision in Sec 3 that City Staff through investigations 
determine the existence and nature of the permit is in compliance with the requirements of 
reports to Mayor and Council who make all the decisions.  There was one change at first reading 
in regards to supposedly Staff making the determination that there would be an appeal to Mayor 
and Council.  This is inconsistent with State Law and has been removed.  Spec Hosti made a 
motion to approve.  Brian West seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian West, Spec Hosti, and 
Monty Parks.  Voting against were Nancy DeVetter and Barry Brown.  Motion to approve 3-2. 
 
Second Reading:  2023-18:  Text Amendment:  An amendment to the calamity clause 
of the STR Ordinance (2022-04) for time period and procedure. Dr. West stated he 
appreciates all the emails he has received regarding the protection of our neighborhoods and 
completely agree with protecting our neighborhoods and respecting our residents.  He stated his 
neighborhood is very different as most of his neighbors are there most of the summer and leave 
in the summer and rent their house out during the summer months.  During that time if there 
are issues they help the renters.  Dr. West continued he wants to continue to help his neighbors 
and that is why he is voting in the affirmative.  He thank Mayor Sessions for allowing him to make 
those comments.   Spec Hosti made a motion to approve.  Brian West seconded.  Voting in 
favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, and Spec Hosti.  Voting against was Nancy 
DeVetter.  Motion to approve 4-1.   
 
Jay Burke returned to the meeting. 
 

Second Reading:  2023-23:  Historic Preservation Commission.  Monty Parks made a 
motion to approve.  Nancy DeVetter second.  Vote was unanimous to approve. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss real estate, personnel and 
litigation.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to return to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous to 
approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:50PM 
 

- Page 7 -Item #2.



 

 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 8 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Call to Election, November 7, 2023

- Page 9 -Item #3.



MAYOR  

Shirley Sessions 

 

CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown Mayor pro tem 

Jay Burke 

Nancy DeVetter 

Michael “Spec” Hosti 

Monty Parks 

Brian West 

 

 
 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CITY CLERK 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

ELECTION NOTICE 
TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

CALL FOR ELECTION 
QUALIFYING NOTICE 

 
Notice is hereby given to the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia that the General Municipal 
Election will be held November 7, 2023 between the hours of 7:00AM and 7:00PM for the 
election of the Mayor and three (3) Council Members. 

 
POLLING PLACES FOR THIS ELECTION 

 
4-10:  Burke Day Public Safety Building 
 78 Van Horne Street 
 
4-11: Tybee School Cafeteria 
 204 Fifth Street 
 
Qualifying begins Tuesday, August 22, 2023.  Hours of qualification are 8:30AM – 4:30PM 
each day and closes Thursday, August 24, 2023 at 4:30PM.  Qualification will be held at: 
 Tybee Island City Hall 
 Modular “A” 
 Clerk’s Office 
 4th Street 
 Tybee Island, GA  31328 
 
Qualifying Fees: 
 Mayor:            $252.00 
 Council Members:    $144.00 
 
 

 
Janet LeViner, MMC 

Clerk of Council 
City of Tybee Island, GA 

 

- Page 10 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Julia Pearce:  Pilgrimage from Tybee Lazaretto to Ghana:  Door of No Return

- Page 11 -Item #6.



Our Ref.: 

Your Ref. 

CAPE COAST METROPOLITAN ASSEMBLY 
(CCMA) 

TROPO 
P.O BOX 200 

CAPE COAST 
Web: http://www.ccma.gov.gh 

E-MAIL: info @ccma.gov.gh 
Tel: 0312-291355 

Fax: 0332-132226 
Digital Address: CC-000-5015 

ESTABLISHMENT OF A SISTER-CITY RELATIONS WITH CITY OF TYBEE 
ISLAND, GEORGIA, USA 

6th June, 2023 

This is to acknowledge your letter dated 30th May, 2023 introducing Mrs Julia 
Pearce to my Office. 

T have already received Mrs. Pearce in my Office to discuss starting a Sister-City 
relationship betweern the City of Cape Coast, Ghana and City of Tybee Island, 
Georgia, USA. 

MAYOR SHIRLEY SESSIONS, 
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, 
GEORGIA, USA 

I wish to indicate our acceptance of your proposal and readiness to strategically 
partner with you for the mutual benefit of our cities. On this note, we would like to 
take this opportunity to officially invite you to visit Cape Coast, Ghana. 

I bring you felicitations from the City of Cape Codst, 

In the meantime, I wish to inform you that we have already planned a trip to the 
United States of America from 5th to 8th October, 2023. 

We hope to receive an invitation from your office to enable us include a trip to 
your City whilst we are in the United States for further discussions. 

HâN. ERNEST ARTHUR 
METROPOLITAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

- Page 12 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Special Review:  Sec 3-100 Beach, 708 Butler Avenue, CFK Properties, LLC

- Page 13 -Item #7.



- Page 14 -Item #7.



- Page 15 -Item #7.



- Page 16 -Item #7.



- Page 17 -Item #7.



- Page 18 -Item #7.



- Page 19 -Item #7.



- Page 20 -Item #7.



- Page 21 -Item #7.



- Page 22 -Item #7.



- Page 23 -Item #7.



- Page 24 -Item #7.



- Page 25 -Item #7.



- Page 26 -Item #7.



- Page 27 -Item #7.



- Page 28 -Item #7.



- Page 29 -Item #7.



- Page 30 -Item #7.



- Page 31 -Item #7.



- Page 32 -Item #7.



- Page 33 -Item #7.



- Page 34 -Item #7.



- Page 35 -Item #7.



- Page 36 -Item #7.



- Page 37 -Item #7.



- Page 38 -Item #7.



- Page 39 -Item #7.



- Page 40 -Item #7.



- Page 41 -Item #7.



- Page 42 -Item #7.



- Page 43 -Item #7.



- Page 44 -Item #7.



- Page 45 -Item #7.



- Page 46 -Item #7.



- Page 47 -Item #7.



- Page 48 -Item #7.



- Page 49 -Item #7.



- Page 50 -Item #7.



- Page 51 -Item #7.



- Page 52 -Item #7.



- Page 53 -Item #7.



- Page 54 -Item #7.



- Page 55 -Item #7.



- Page 56 -Item #7.



- Page 57 -Item #7.



- Page 58 -Item #7.



- Page 59 -Item #7.



- Page 60 -Item #7.



- Page 61 -Item #7.



- Page 62 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Award Symbioscity RFP, Review of the Land Development Code

- Page 63 -Item #8.



City of Tybee Island
Review of Land Development 

Code RFP 2023-773
June 14, 2023

- Page 64 -Item #8.



 
  

P.O. Box 10121 
Savannah, GA  31412 

912.484.2018 

www.symbioscity.com 
 
 
June 14, 2023 

 
Ms. Melissa Freeman 
City of Tybee Island 
Tybee Island City Hall 
403A Butler Avenue 
Tybee Island, GA 31328 
 
RE: City of Tybee Island RFP #2023-773, LDC Review 

Review of Land Development Regulations for the City of Tybee Island 

Dear Ms. Freeman, 

On behalf of the Symbioscity Team, it is my pleasure to submit the enclosed proposal for the City of Tybee 
Island Land Development Code review.  Based in Savannah, Georgia, Symbioscity is a WBE-certified urban 
planning firm with experience in code development, urban design, public involvement, local government 
work and more.  We believe there is not a one-size-fits-all solution, so we assemble teams based on the 
unique needs of the project and client.  Therefore, our team includes Goodwin Mills Caywood (GMC) and 
Kimley-Horn. 

As the founder and owner of Symbioscity, I will serve as Project Manager for the project.  I will lead the 
facilitation of meetings throughout the LDC update and serve as the primary point of contact for Tybee. 
Glenn Coyne, FAICP, with GMC, and Kelley Klepper, AICP, with Kimley-Horn, will join me as Key Team 
Leaders in the code analysis and updates. Collectively, we bring almost 100 years of experience in local 
government and code development experience. Ed DiTomosso, AICP, GMC, and Laura Ballock, PLA, 
Kimley-Horn, are both located here in their respective Savannah offices and will assist with both 
experience and local support and knowledge. 

Our team brings experience in innovation, working collaboratively with communities, design talent, and 
technical expertise.  We enjoy developing creative approaches tailored to the needs of each project to 
produce the best result possible. In everything we do, we are dedicated to seeking solutions that are 
mutually beneficial to people, place, and planet.  Even little things, like printing our proposal on both sides 
of paper, can help make a difference.   

We thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal. If you should have any questions, please do not 
hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely,  

 
Denise R. Grabowski, AICP, LEED AP 
Principal 

- Page 65 -Item #8.



    Overview of the 

Consultant Team

O ur team brings together local professionals who know the Tybee community well, 
supported by Key Team leaders with extensive experience and expertise in code 

development from across the Southeast. Beyond just code expertise, the Symbioscity Team 
also has diverse local government experience, so we understand the context of the LDC 
and the political pressures of land development regulations. Symbioscity is honored to 
lead a powerhouse team including Goodwin Mills Caywood (GMC) and Kimley-Horn to 
conduct the review and update of the City of Tybee Island Land Development Code (LDC). 

T he Symbioscity Team understands the rich historic, cultural, and environmental 
dynamics of Tybee Island. The City of Tybee Island is known across the South for 

providing an exceptional quality of life for its residents to thrive and offering a charming 
island experience for visitors to create lifelong memories. Our team’s professional knowledge 
and local long-held understanding of the issues faced by Tybee provide us with a solid basis 
to serve the City and interact with the residents in a meaningful way. A successful process 
requires a team that understands what makes the island “tick.” 

- Page 66 -Item #8.



Symbioscity focuses on working with communities - such as cities, 
neighborhoods, and organizations - to plan for and implement a more 
sustainable future.  Each community is different.  We do not believe in a 
one size fits all approach.  We maintain maximum flexibility to assemble 
project teams based on the unique needs of each client.  

We offer services in urban planning and design, community 
involvement, consensus development, and more.  Our diverse skill 
set fosters a collaborative approach to create plans which are not 
only comprehensive, but also destined for implementation.  We work 
primarily with public sector clients, such as local, regional, and state 
governments and non-profit organizations.  

Established in 2011, Symbioscity provides a wide range of planning 
services to communities, primarily in Southeast Georgia and coastal 
South Carolina. Symbioscity has provided long-term on-call planning 
services for Glynn County, City of Savannah, Garden City,  and 
Thunderbolt among others, and provided facilitation for numerous 
projects and groups, including strategic planning, stakeholder advisory 
groups, and elected officials.

Symbioscity also believes in giving back to the community. We volunteer 
our time to participate in area initiatives that foster collaboration and 
quality of life in the region, such as Healthy Savannah and the Mobility 
Advisory Committee. We also support local non-profit organizations 
through sponsorship and hands-on service.

Team Lead:

Denise R. Grabowski, AICP, LEED AP
CEO/Principal

Symbioscity is a Georgia 
Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) as certified 
by the State of Georgia and a 
Women Business Enterprise 
(WBE).  

P.O. Box 10121
Savannah, GA  31412
912.484.2018
www.symbioscity.com

   symbiotic:

   city:

   symbioscity:

a mutually beneficial relationship

an urban habitat

an urban planning firm dedicated to 
maximizing mutually beneficial relationships 
for people, place, and planet

- Page 67 -Item #8.



Goodwyn Mills Cawood (GMC), LLC is one of the largest
architecture and engineering firms in the region with offices across
the Southeast. Whether designing schools, parks, hospitals and
other commercial developments, or providing clean water, safe
streets and protecting endangered environments, GMC takes
great pride in serving our communities through the transformative
work we do. Every project is guided by the foundational concept
that communities are built by people, not companies, and we
strive to serve our communities with quality, integrity, creativity and
care. GMC is equipped to provide all of the services associated
with architecture, interior design, civil engineering, environmental
services, landscape architecture, planning, transportation
engineering, geotechnical engineering, electrical engineering,
surveying and disaster recovery. We provide services to a diverse
group of public and private sector clients, including county and
municipal governments, federal and state agencies, private
corporations, industries and developers.

GMC offers creative solutions to complex challenges. Our staff
recognizes that if a project is to be successful, it must first meet the
needs of the client. Therefore, we work with each client individually
to assure satisfaction in all areas of each project including a
functional design and a project within budget. Measuring our
success by our many accomplishments, we have a proven track
record of meeting a client’s design needs economically, efficiently,
and in the time frame outlined by the client.

Team Members:

Glenn Coyne, FAICP
Senior Planner

Ed DiTomosso, AICP, GISP, MS4CECI
Project Executive

7 E. Congress Street, Suite 504
Savannah, GA  31401

912.226.1667
www.gmcnetwork.com

- Page 68 -Item #8.



Kimley-Horn’s planners, urban designers, and engineers have a history 
of partnering with communities to develop progressive and context-
sensitive plans. In each community we serve, we strive to understand 
the values of that community and transform them into a vision that 
guides the planning process. 

Understanding the importance of diverse experiences, we intentionally 
partner with professionals of various backgrounds to create the 
opportunity for visionary thinking with a focus on implementation. We 
continually look for ways to integrate land use recommendations with 
other community initiatives and mandates. Our skill for understanding 
context enables us to craft specific solutions based on local character. 
Our holistic approach to the process and preparation of these plans 
emphasizes: 
•	 True	engagement	of	the	public	and	stakeholders	
•	 Collaboration	among	people	from	different	backgrounds	
•	 Analytic	foundation	for	decision	making	
•	 Consensus	building	
•	 Identification	of	realistic	and	implementable	solutions	
•	 Equity	and	fairness	
•	 Sustainability	and	environmental	stewardship	

Team Members:

Kelley Klepper, AICP
Vice President

Laura Ballock, PLA
Landscape Architect

554 E. Gordon Street
Savannah, GA 31401
912.721.8638
www.kimley-horn.com

- Page 69 -Item #8.



 Project Personnel 

Qualifications

Our team has been carefully crafted to provide the City of Tybee Island with the 
highest level of service and unparalleled expertise. The review and update of a 

Land Development Code (LDC) is a very technical exercise. However, what these changes 
may mean to the community is not. The process and communication about the LDC 
update will be critical to its success. Therefore, our team is lead by Denise Grabowski, 
AICP, of Symbioscity, who brings over 25 years of experience in both facilitation and local 
government expertise.

GMC is well-known by the City of Tybee Island for their years of experience working 
with the City on their comprehensive plan, carrying capacity study, and other 

projects, as well as serving as the on-call planning consultant. For the LDC update, Glenn 
Coyne, FAICP, will be a Key Team Leader in the code analysis and updates. Glenn brings 
over 35 years of professional planning experience to the team, serving local governments 
throughout the Southeast. Glenn also brings national-level experience, having worked for 
four years as the Director of the American Institute of Certified Planners (AICP) in Washington, 
D.C. Ed DiTommaso, AICP, based in Savannah, will bring his in-depth knowledge of Tybee 
Island to the team and lead all GIS data analysis and activities, as well as assist with code 
updates.

K imley-Horn rounds out our team. For the LDC update, Kelley Klepper, AICP, will serve 
as a Key Team leader in the code analysis and updates. Kelley brings more than 31 years 

of planning and land use experience in both the public and private sectors. His background 
and experience partnering with municipalities across the Southeast providing him with a 
rich background of experiences and best planning practices with an emphasis on not only 
right-sizing the code and standards, but applying, testing, and refining the standards 
specific to the community. Laura Ballock, PLA, based in Savannah, will provide expertise 
in review of the tree ordinance, buffers, and the natural environment. With a background 
in natural resources and urban ecological design, Laura is a landscape architect addressing 
performance-based resiliency and quality of life goals for local governments. 

- Page 70 -Item #8.



Denise Grabowski is the founder of Symbioscity, an urban planning firm 
dedicated to fostering mutually beneficial relationships between people, 
place and planet.  She works with a variety of clients on projects such as 
community master plans, mixed use developments, redevelopment plans, 
local government consultation, and public participation.  

As a former senior-level planning staff member for both county and city 
governments, she has in-depth knowledge of land use, regulatory, and 
legal issues and is accustomed to working with diverse constituents and 
elected officials.  She is also sensitive to local government issues, such as 
public perception and budgetary constraints. A frequent public speaker, 
she has presented at national and regional conferences on quality 
growth and sustainable development, including the American Planning 
Association, the National League of Cities, and TEDx Creative Coast.

Select Project Experience

Land Development Regulations
•	 Glynn Avenue (US 17) Design Framework Overlay District
•	 Town of Thunderbolt River Drive District Regulations
•	 City of Savannah Canal District Land Use Regulations
•	 Effingham County Zoning and Subdivision Regulations Update
•	 Coastal Georgia Local Government Ordinances – Quality Growth 

Assessment (Review and audit of 30+ land development codes)
•	 Jasper County, South Carolina, Zoning Code
•	 US 84 Overlay District & Design Guidelines
•	 Chatham County LEED Ordinance
•	 Worth County Zoning Code Update

Facilitation and Training
•	 DCA Community Planning Institute Training Program for 

Comprehensive Planning
•	 DCA Coastal Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee
•	 EPA School Siting Guidelines – Workshop Curriculum Development
•	 Coastal Regional Commission Practicum Series:  

•	 Safe Routes to Schools/School Siting
•	 Healthy Community Design
•	 Food Planning & Policy

•	 Give Change That Counts Steering Committee – Chatham-Savannah 
Authority for the Homeless

Education

Master of City Planning, 
Georgia Institute of Technology

B.S., Environmental Science, 
Furman University

Certifications + Awards

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP) 

LEED Accredited Professional

Georgia Trend “40 Under 40” 
Best & Brightest List 

Institute for Georgia 
Environmental Leadership

Leadership Savannah

Professional Affiliations

American Planning Association

Georgia Planning Association

U.S. Green Building Council 

Congress for the New Urbanism 

Denise R. Grabowski, AICP, LEED AP
Principal

- Page 71 -Item #8.



•	 Liberty County Elected Officials & Community Leaders Retreat
•	 Savanah Area Mobility Management Inc. Board Retreat
•	 Parent University - Strategic Plan Facilitation & Development 

Local Government On-Call Planning
•	 Glynn County, Georgia
•	 City of Garden City, Georgia
•	 City of Savannah, Georgia
•	 Chatham County-Savannah Metropolitan Planning Commission
•	 City of Bloomingdale, Georgia

Comprehenisve Planning + Special Studies
•	 Canal District Master Plan, City of Savannah
•	 Wetlands Preserve Park, City of Savannah
•	 Tide To Town Urban Trail System Neighborhood Engagement
•	 Downtown Savannah 2033 Master Plan
•	 City of Springfield Master Plan – Springfield, Georgia
•	 City of Riceboro Master Plan – Riceboro, Georgia
•	 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan – City of Statesboro, Georgia 
•	 Town of Port Royal Comprehensive Plan – Port Royal, South Carolina
•	 Effingham County Joint Comprehensive Plan – Effingham County, 

Georgia
•	 Urban Redevelopment Plan – City of Cartersville, Georgia
•	 Town of Vernonburg Comprehensive Plan
•	 EAT healthy, PLAY often, CREATE community:  Community Action Plan 

– Coastal Health District, Georgia
•	 Plan4Health – Savannah, Georgia
•	 Jasper County Comprehensive Plan – Jasper County, South Carolina

Transportation Planning
•	 Chatham Area Transit (CAT) Master Plan
•	 U.S. 80 Bridges Study – Chatham County, Georgia
•	 Victory Drive Corridor Study – Chatham County, Georgia
•	 Reclaiming Old West Broad Street:  1-16 Ramp Removal Study
•	 Parking Matters:  Parking + Mobility Strategic Plan for Downtown 

Savannah
•	 Regional Park + Ride Initiative - Coastal region
•	 DeLesseps / LaRoche Avenue Corridor Improvement Project – 

Savannah, Georgia 
•	 State Route (SR) 307 Corridor Study - Chatham County, Georgia
•	 State Route (SR) 21 Corridor Study – Savannah, Georgia 
•	 State Route (SR) 204 Corridor Study – Savannah, Georgia

Board Positions  +  Public 
Involvement Activities 

Savannah-Chatham County Public 
School System Board Member-, 

District One 

U.S. Green Building Council, Board 
of Directors (2015); Advisory 

Council (2016 – 2020)

Georgia Planning Association – 
Board of Directors (2012 – 14)

Ossabaw Island Foundation 
Board of Trusteets

Savannah College of Art + Design 
(SCAD) Design Review Committee

Savannah Technical College 
Community Council

Metropolitan Savannah Rotary

Healthy Savannah 
Steering Committee

Coastal Advisory Council (CAC) - 
Georgia Department of Natural 

Resources, Past Chair (2005 – 07)

Department of Community Affairs 
Quality Growth Resource Teams 

DCA Quality Growth Advisory 
Panels  ACCG and GMA 

conferences - Page 72 -Item #8.



Glenn brings over 35 years of professional planning experience to GMC. 
His past roles include planning leadership in the Georgia communities of 
Augusta, Savannah, and Duluth, and Cuyahoga County, Ohio. Glenn has 
served as a consultant to local governments throughout the Southeast 
US, completing comprehensive, neighborhood and transportation plans, 
as well as zoning ordinances and land development codes. 

Glenn served the planning profession for four years as the Director 
of the American Institute of Certified Planners (AICP) in Washington, 
D.C. He regularly provides workshop training to planners, planning 
commissioners, and elected officials, especially in the areas of professional 
development, ethics, development regulation, and public participation.

Select Experience

Land Development Regulations
•	 Peachtree City Unified Development Ordinance, Georgia  
•	 Jekyll Island Code Revisions, Georgia
•	 Lowndes County Unified Land Development Code & Update, Georgia
•	 Fernandina Beach Unified Development Code, Florida
•	 Planned Commercial Development Zoning Ordinance Revision, 

Farragut, Tennessee
•	 City of Tifton-Tift County Unified Development Ordinance, Georgia
•	 City of Carrollton Unified Development Ordinance, Georgia
•	 Fort Gillem Zoning District Ordinance, Forest Park, Georgia
•	 Lynn Haven Unified Land Development Code, Florida
•	 Village of Newburgh Heights Zoning Ordinance Update, Ohio

Comprehensive Plans
•	 Newton County Comprehensive Plan, Georgia  
•	 Bryan County Comprehensive Plan, Georgia 
•	 City of Douglasville Comprehensive Plan, Georgia
•	 City of Griffin Comprehensive Plan, Georgia  
•	 Columbia County Growth Management Plan, Georgia
•	 Town of Mount Pleasant Comprehensive Plan, South Carolina
•	 Glynn County Comprehensive Plan Update, Georgia
•	 Brunswick Comprehensive Plan Update, Georgia
•	 City of Suwanee Comprehensive Plan Update, Georgia
•	 Bay Village Master Plan, Ohio
•	 Cleveland Heights Master Plan, Ohio
•	 Rocky River Master Plan, Ohio

Education

Master of City Planning, 
Georgia Institute of Technology

Bachelor of Arts, Urban Studies, 
Cleveland State University

Licenses + Certifications

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP) 

College of Fellows of AICP: 2012

Affiliations

Georgia Planning Association: 
•	 Chapter President, 1997-1999 
•	 Board Member 1991-1999, 

2003-2005
•	 Professional Development 

Officer, 2003-2005

City of Lakewood, Ohio, Planning 
Commission, Member, 2016-2019  

Atlanta Regional Commission, 
Community Planning Academy, 
Faculty, 2008-2012 

Leadership Augusta

Glenn Coyne, FAICP
Senior Planner

- Page 73 -Item #8.



Ed currently serves as Vice President of Environmental for all projects 
in the state of Georgia. He has an extensive background in providing 
comprehensive planning, GIS database development, natural resources 
planning, solid waste planning and stormwater utility development. 
With over 20 years of experience, Ed has served as project manager for 
a number of successful comprehensive planning projects and has also 
managed a variety of GIS projects across the Southeast. His technical 
understanding of GIS, coupled with his extensive experience with the 
Community Engagement process give Ed a unique ability to effectively 
communicate technical information to a wide variety of audiences.

Select Experience

GIS Database Development and Management
•	 GIS Database Development and Management - Powder Springs, GA
•	 Stormwater Inventory and System Condition Assessment, Sea Pines 

Community Services Associates - Hilton Head Island, SC
•	 NPDES MS4 Stormwater Inventory and Inspection GIS Database 

Management - Port Wentworth, Garden City, Thunderbolt, Brookhaven 
and Senoia, GA

•	 E911 Computer Aided Dispatch - Hapeville and Fairburn, GA
•	 GIS Web Applications - Garden City, Port Wentworth, Thunderbolt, 

Cornelia, Tybee Island, GA and Anniston, AL
•	 Stormwater Infrastructure Inventory and Condition Assessments 

- Grantville, Darien, Richmond Hill, Port Wentworth, Garden City, 
Thunderbolt, Cornelia, Clarksville, Statesboro & Effingham County, GA

•	 GIS Infrastructure Database Development - Blue Granite Water 
Company, Irmo, Wylie Lake and West Columbia, SC

Planning Experience
•	 Community Rating System Audit - Tybee Island, GA
•	 Comprehensive Plans - Tybee Island, Port Wentworth, Garden City, 

Fairburn and Fayetteville, GA
•	 Contract Planning and Zoning Director - Tybee Island, GA
•	 Vision 2035 Comprehensive Plan Update - Columbia County, GA

Floodplain Management Program Assistance
•	 Future Floodplain Functions Plan - Chatham County, GA
•	 Community Rating System Audit Assistance - Bloomingdale, Tybee 

Island and McIntosh County, GA

Education

Master of Urban Planning, 
University of Buffalo

Bachelor of Science, State 
University of New York’s College 
of Environmental Science 
andForestry

Licenses + Certifications

American Institute of Certified 
Planners (AICP) 

Certified Geographic Information 
Systems Professional (GISP) 

MS4 Compliance and 
Enforcement CertifiedInspector

Ed DiTommaso, AICP, GISP, MS4CECI
Project Executive

- Page 74 -Item #8.



Kelley has 30 years of planning experience, including a thorough 
knowledge of land development codes, comprehensive planning, 
growth management, public policy, form-based codes, budgeting, urban 
growth boundaries and management, transportation, development-
related issues facing growing communities, and urban design. He has 
extensive knowledge of land use and is experienced with coordinating 
and conducting public meetings and presentations. He has partnered with 
municipalities throughout the Southeast to develop zoning codes, specific 
code components (e.g., signage, parking, airport zoning), design standards 
and guidelines, form-based codes, and overlay development standards, 
including hybrid codes reflecting best planning practices and context/
community sensitive solutions. 

Kelley has presented at various local, regional, state and national planning 
organizations, including the American Planning Association (APA) 
National Conference, APA Florida and Tennessee, Florida Redevelopment 
Association, and American Public Works Association, Florida Chapter. 

Select Experience

•	 UDO Rewrite and Zoning Map Update, Monroe, NC 
•	 UDO Update, Greer, SC 
•	 Land Development Code, Berry Hill, TN 
•	 Forward Monroe Land Use and Transportation Plan, Monroe, NC 
•	 UDC and 2027 Comprehensive Plan, Venice, FL 
•	 Code Review & Development for the Gateway Master Plan, Butner, NC 
•	 CRA Master Plan Update and Design Standards, Zephyrhills, FL 
•	 UDO Analysis, Sandy Springs, GA 
•	 UDO Update, Rolesville, NC 
•	 Land Development Code Assessment, Dunnellon, FL 
•	 Hydraulic Small Area Plan and Code Assessment, Charlottesville, VA 
•	 Comprehensive Development Plan 2035, Maitland, FL 
•	 Development Code & Parking Code Assessment, Largo, FL 
•	 Downtown Master Plan & Town Center District Standards, Stallings, NC 
•	 Zoning Code Amendments, Cape Canaveral, FL 
•	 CRA Master Plan and Overlay District Standards, Groveland, FL 
•	 Mixed-Use Activity Center Master Plan & FBC Update, Lehigh Acres, FL 
•	 Downtown Stormwater Development Plan, Land Development 

Regulations, and Urban Design Manual Updates, Titusville, FL 

Education

Master of Arts, Geography and 
Urban Planning, East Tennessee 
University 

Bachelor of Arts, Psychology, 
East Tennessee University 

Professional Affiliations & 
Registrations

American Institute of Certified 
Planners

Form Based Code Training, 
Form Based Code Institute

Kelley Klepper, AICP
Vice President

- Page 75 -Item #8.



Laura has 20 years of experience bringing visionary plans and projects to 
life across the country through diverse local, state and federal contracts. 
She is an experienced planner, urban designer, and landscape architect, 
serving as key team lead on many projects. With an interdisciplinary 
perspective, she has supported communities and organizations as a 
program and project manager, facilitator, planner, and designer. Laura 
has developed and implemented strategies that guide, manage, and 
communicate multimillion-dollar public investments. As part of those 
processes, meaningful and earnest community engagement is a key 
ingredient in the projects that Laura leads. She is committed to helping 
ensure that the community’s voice is embedded throughout all phases of 
the project. 

Laura’s project management skills have led to successful planning, design 
and implementation efforts for the Cities of Savannah, Augusta, Richmond 
Hill, Brunswick, Jesup, Roswell, Sandy Springs, Thomasville; Chatham, 
Henry, Troup and Gwinnett Counties; the Coastal Region MPO, the 
University System of Georgia, and others. She is a key member and active 
voice for planning throughout the Savannah and Chatham County region.

Select Experience

•	 SR 26/US 80 Corridor Study, Chatham County, GA
•	 Coastal Region MPO, Victory Drive Corridor Study, Savannah, GA
•	 City of Augusta Downtown Streetscape Standard Design Elements, 

Augusta, GA
•	 City of Savannah Downtown Streetscape Initiative, Savannah, GA
•	 City of Sandy Springs Sidewalk Improvements and Tree Protection, 

Sandy Springs, GA
•	 Chatham County Engineering and Design On-Call, Chatham County, GA
•	 Ford Avenue Scenic Impacts Corridor Study, Richmond Hill, GA
•	 Friends of Tide to Town, Urban Trail System – Neighborhood Planning 

and Community Engagement, Savannah/Chatham County, GA
•	 US 17/East Coast Greenway Multi-Use Trail Study, Darien to Butler 

Island, McIntosh and Glynn Counties, GA
•	 Broad Street Streetscape and James Brown Linear Park, Augusta, GA
•	 Marsh Protection Promenade at Savannah State University, Savannah, 

GA

Education

Master of Landscape 
Architecture, 

University of Washington

Bachelor of Science, Biology, 
Gettysburg College

Professional Credentials

Professional Landscape 
Architect in GA, CA, and SC

American Society of Landscape 
Architects

American Planning Association

Savannah Tree Foundation, 
Board Member

Friends of Tide to Town,
Founding Board Member

Laura Ballock, PLA
Landscape Architect

- Page 76 -Item #8.



PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

- Page 77 -Item #8.



Firm Experience 
The  following pages provide a highlight of the facilitation, local government, 

and code development qualifications represented on the Symbioscity team.  Our 
balanced skillset of urban planning, policy, urban design and landscape architecture 
provide the technical tools to foster sustainable development on Tybee Island. But we 
also possess the soft skills of listening, learning, and translating what we hear from the 
community into sound policy and regulation.   

- Page 78 -Item #8.



Glynn Avenue Design Framework
Brunswick, Georgia
The City of Brunswick launched this 
initiative to create a new framework to 
guide development and redevelopment 
along U.S. Highway 17 / Glynn Avenue, 
which serves as a gateway to the City of 
Brunswick and the Golden Isles of Georgia. 
The City of Brunswick initiated this project 
due to decline and disinvestment in 
commercial areas along Glynn Avenue. 

The Glynn Avenue Corridor has been an area of focus for many planning initiatives over the years for 
the City of Brunswick.  Symbioscity led a multi-disciplinary team to develop the Glynn Avenue Design 
Framework, which continued the work of these initiatives into a much greater level of detail and 
implementation.  One of the challenges with planning initiatives is simply going from planning to action 
and that’s exactly the Glynn Avenue Design Framework seeks to accomplish.

Reference:  John Hunter, Director, Planning, Development & Codes, City of Brunswick
jhunter@cityofbrunswick-ga.gov, 912.267.5527

River Drive District
Thunderbolt, Georgia
Seeking to strengthen the identity of River Drive as 
the town’s “Main Street” – home to the Town Hall 
and overlooking the Intracoastal Waterway – the 
Town of Thunderbolt wanted to ensure that new 
development fostered a walkable sense of place 
and reflected the community’s small-town feel. 
Symbioscity developed a new zoning district to foster 
innovation and creativity while crafting standards for 
appropriately scaled development.  

Reference:  Caroline Hankins, Former Town Administrator
chankins@pooler-ga.gov, 912.748.7261

Project Profiles

Village on the Bluff, opened in March 2023,  was the first 
development to be designed and constructed under the 

River Drive District.
Image source: www.villageonthebluff.com

Rendering by project team member, Dede Christopher

- Page 79 -Item #8.



On-Call Planning Consultant
Glynn County, Georgia
Faced with staff shortages in the county’s Community 
Development Department, Symbioscity worked as an extension 
of county staff, including working in the Glynn County planning 
office one day a week, plus remotely on other days. Symbioscity 
served in this capacity for over a year, contininuing on even 
after the department became fully staffed. 

Glynn County’s planning structure includes two planning 
commissions - one for the mainland and one for the islands 
(St. Simons and Sea Island). In this role, Symbioscity served as 
the on-call Planning Manager, providing staff reviews, training 
sessions, staff reports, and staff presentations for both planning 
commissions and the Glynn County Board of Commissioners. 

Reference:  Stefanie M. Leif, AICP, Planning Manager
Glynn County Community Development Department, Glynn County Board of Commissioners
sleif@glynncounty-ga.gov, 912.554.7428     

Give Change That Counts
Chatham County, Georgia
This initiative, led by the Chatham-Savannah Authority for 
the Homeless, brought together community leaders such as 
the Chamber of Commerce, Downtown Business Association, 
Savannah Economic Development Authority, and many others 
to develop a community approach to address increased activity 
of people panhandling while also providing a better alternative 
for those in need. 

Symbioscity facilitated the 30+ member Task Force that 
developed the vision for the initiative and worked with the 
creative team who developed the branding and collateral 
materials for the campaign development and implementation. 

Reference:  Cindy Kelley, Executive Director (Retired)
Chatham-Savannah Authority for the Homeless (CSAH)
cindymurphykelley@gmail.com, 612.703.7716  

- Page 80 -Item #8.



Jekyll Island Code Revision 
Jekyll Island, Georgia 
GMC provided technical assistance and 
project management in the update to the 
land development regulations for the Jekyll 
Island Authority, Georgia. Work included 
updates to a majority of the existing code, 
stakeholder and public involvement and 
coordination with the comprehensive 
plan update.Throughout the project, GMC 
facilitated four public input sessions and an 
online survey which culminated in over 165 
comments and suggestions.

The Code Revision Project successfully delivered  the Jekyll Island Authority Code of Ordinances and 
Design Review Guidelines to provide an updated, organized, and concise Code that clearly details 
development processes and procedures related to the residential uses, commercial and business 
regulations, environment, building codes and life safety, landscaping and tree protection.

Reference:  C. Jones Hooks, Executive Director, Jekyll Island Authority
jhooks@jekyllisland.com, 912.635.4075   

Tybee Island Carrying Capacity Study
GMC authored a Coastal Incentive Grant 
for the City to conduct a Carrying Capacity 
Study for Tybee Island. The purpose of the 
carrying capacity study was to determine 
the population size that can be supported 
by the City, the limiting factors for 
population growth, and how the City can 
become more climate resilient and prepare 
for future growth and development in the 
face of predicted sea level rise. Primary 
limiting factors can either be resource-
based, i.e. available water supply, or 
infrastructure-based, i.e. ability of the 
sanitary distribution and treatment system 
to safely convey and adequately treat 
domestic wastewater.

Reference:  George Shaw, Planning & Zoning Manager, City of Tybee Island
gshaw@cityoftybee.org, 912.472.5031

- Page 81 -Item #8.



Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations 
Update, Venice, Florida 
Kimley-Horn was hired to update the City’s comprehensive 
plan with an emphasis on coordinated land use, multimodal 
transportation, and economic development. The City’s 
grassroots public outreach and involvement was recognized 
by the Florida Planning and Zoning Association based on the 
number and type of community workshops in seven sectors/
neighborhoods, online surveys, and one-on-one meetings 
with civic and social organizations. 

The plan completely revised the City’s approach to land 
use and development by creating targeted mixed-use 
areas that focused on transportation choices and service 
delivery of infrastructure and required a mix of land uses 
(e.g., residential, office, retail, and industrial) based on the potential carrying capacity and character 
of the district tied together by a multimodal transportation system, including complete streets. This 
comprehensive plan was recognized by APA Florida for Outstanding Comprehensive Plan Small City in 
2018. The City adopted the regulations update during the summer of 2022.

Reference:  Jeff Shrum, Former Growth Management Director, 
City of Venice, 941.882.7431   

Greer Unified Development Ordinance (UDO)
Greer, South Carolina
Kimley-Horn has served the City of Greer for a decade—
starting with the award-winning Greer Community Master 
Plan and culminating with the soon-to-be adopted UDO 
rewrite. The master plan established a vision for their 
downtown, which Kimley-Horn refined as part of an inclusive 
Downtown Streetscape Master Plan. 

In 2021, the City retained Kimley-Horn to update their 
UDO. The new UDO is an out-of-the-box look at planning 
best practices and their application to a growing, diverse 
community. The team emphasized consistency with the City’s 
land use plan, corrected code conflicts, and addressed outdated planning and zoning practices. The new 
UDO reorganizes and simplifies the document while minimizing the reliance on staff interpretation of 
current standards as projects progress through the approval process. The cornerstones of the new UDO 
are clear and easy-to-understand terms, standards, and metrics with supporting maps and graphics that 
are easy to use.  

Reference: Ashley Kaade, Planning Manager, City of Greer, 864.968.7027

- Page 82 -Item #8.



In addition to the references for Symbioscity listed below, the Symbioscity Team invites the City of Tybee 
to contact the references listed on the preceding project profile pages.

1. City of Savannah 
Projects: Canal District Master Plan + Land Use Regulations
Wetlands Preserve Park Master Plan
On-Call Urban Planning Consultant team member

Contact:  Ms. Bridget Lidy, Director of Planning & Urban Design, City of Savannah
blidy@savannahga.gov, 912.525.3270

Symbioscity worked with the city, neighborhood leaders, and community stakeholders in the 
development of the Canal District Master Plan, including the facilitation of neighborhood, 
committee, and community meetings. Currently, Symbioscity is assisting the City with 
development of land use regulations to foster new development that supports the Savannah 
Arena while protecting adjacent historic neighborhoods. 

2. City of Garden City
Project: On-Call Planning Manager

Contact:  Mr. Scott Robider, City Manager, City of Garden City
srobider@gardencity-ga.gov, 912.966.7770

Symbioscity provides on-call planning services to the City of Garden City. Responsibilities 
include review of development applications, preparation of staff reports and 
recommendations to the Planning Commission and Board of Appeals, and presentations 
at Planning Commission/Board of Appeals meetings. Symbioscity also assist the City with 
updates to land development regulations, including during a recent moratorium.

3. City of Brunswick
Project: Glynn Avenue Design Guidelines

Contact:  Mr. John Hunter, Director, Planning, Development & Codes, City of Brunswick
jhunter@cityofbrunswick-ga.gov, 912.267.5527

Symbioscity led the team that developed a new overlay district for Glynn Avenue (US 17) 
to foster reinvestment and redevelopment along this important commercial corridor. The 
development of the new regulations was informed by existing city plans, stakeholder 
interviews, and an extensive community engagement process, including a multi-day design 
charrette. The new code introduced elements of urban form common to a form-based code, 
while maintaining the format of a traditional zoning district.

References

- Page 83 -Item #8.



  Project Approach

and Schedule

The City of Tybee Island is loved for its funky character, beach vibes, and quirky 
personality. The City is also at the forefront of natural resource protection and 

integration of sustainable practices, particularly in the face of sea level rise and climate 
change. Tybee Island, as one of three public beaches in Georgia accessible by car, continues 
to face development pressures and strives to maintain a balance between residents and 
tourists, prioritizing overall quality of life for the community. 

The land development code (LDC) is a critical tool for the City of Tybee Island in working 
to protect quality of life, sense of community, stewardship of historic, cultural, and 

natural resources, and wise use and investment in infrastructure. The City of Tybee Island 
is to be commended for taking a proactive approach to review its LDC and identify areas 
in need of update. Based on the RFP as well as information shared in the pre-bid meeting, 
the Symbioscity team understands that this review and update is a priority for City 
Council and that while there’s not a singular issue driving this review, the City has already 
identified several areas that likely are in need of updating, including parking, signage, 
tree protection, home occupation/home business, and zoning districts, including by right/
uses after special review.

- Page 84 -Item #8.



The scope of work outlined below outlines our anticipated approach for this project. We see this as a 
collaborative effort between our team and the City of Tybee. 

Our approach will capitalize on our:
•	 depth of professional expertise in planning, code development, land use, development patterns, 

transportation, and more, all supplemented with excellent technical resources;
•	 experience working with local government; 
•	 familiarity with the issues and opportunities for the City of Tybee Island and the coastal context, and;
•	 local knowledge of the area, natural environment, and coastal culture.

The Symbioscity Team will represent a consistent resource throughout the planning process to address 
critical issues. Our approach is to build upon our strengths of local presence and knowledge, technical 
resources, and professional expertise to provide the highest level of quality service. Our team will be led by 
Denise Grabowski who will manage the overall process, lead the facilitation of meetings throughout the 
LDC update, and serve as the primary point of contact for the City of Tybee. Glenn Coyne of GMC and Kelly 
Klepper of Kimley-Horn will also serve as Key Team Leaders, providing a depth of regional knowledge and 
experience.

The development of the land development regulations will require a transparent and accessible process. 
In order to keep the City informed of our progress, we will meet regularly with the City staff and citizen 
advisory committee. In addition to regularly scheduled meetings, the Symbioscity Team can also respond 
to unforeseen circumstances. We have found through our experience that many assignments come up 
unexpectedly and assistance is required to meet an immediate and focused need. With our local presence, 
we can provide this assistance at a moment’s notice. We do not need to make travel arrangements, hotel 
reservations, or schedule meetings weeks in advance. We are here and we are available to provide immediate 
service with a telephone call. In addition, our local presence minimizes direct cots, which in turn maximizes 
available funds.

As we develop our project schedule in conjunction with the City of Tybee Island, we will include milestone 
dates for deliverables in order to ensure shared understanding and expectations.  Early on, we will meet 
with the City of Tybee to review the scope and adjust as needed. We are also committed to meeting the six-
month time frame, as set forth by the City of Tybee. All meetings will be scheduled as early as practical to 
avoid scheduling conflicts. Since we have multiple team members with a depth of code experience, we can 
conduct simultaneous reviews of individual code sections to expedite the process. In our experience, delays 
in schedule frequently come from additional time needed for the community to review and comment on 
new regulations.  While we will build this time into the schedule, we will also maintain flexibility to adjust as 
needed upon agreement from the City.  

- Page 85 -Item #8.



Scoping  + Work Session with City Staff
During our initial meeting with the City of Tybee, 
we will review the scope in detail and review key 
issues, concerns, and priorities the City has already 
identified. During this meeting, we will also review 
project schedule, key meeting dates, and establish a 
schedule for regular meetings with the City.

Review of Existing Plans + Initiatives
Our team understands the role that the land 
development code has in the implementation 
of existing plans, including the comprehensive 
plan and island carrying capacity study. Our team 
member GMC is already very familiar with both, 
given their involvement in each of these 
plans. Our additional team members will also 
review both plans and then we will prepare 
a summary of key takeaways and relevant 
issues we need to be mindful of throughout 
the land development code update. Given the 
similarities in the goals for each, we anticipate 
these goals will remain the focus for the LDC 
update as well.

Land Development Code Review
Our team will conduct an overall review of 
the Land Development Code (LDC) initially to 
understand and assess the overall structure 
and content. During this review, our focus will 
be on identifying potential conflicts within 
the ordinance, conflicts with state/federal 
code, as well as identifying opportunities to 
explore best practices.

Inventory of Non-Conforming Lots 
in R-Districts
Concurrent with the initial review and 
assessment of the LDC, we will conduct 
the inventory of non-conforming uses in R 
districts. All lots identified in this inventory 
will be mapped in GIS and we will develop a 

database to track what the current non-conforming 
use is on each lot. This information will help inform 
if and how we may want to make changes in uses in 
each of the R districts. During this step, we will also 
conduct an analysis of lots that are non-conforming 
in size.

Findings Memorandum
Our key team leaders will meet internally to review 
findings, identify any ‘red flag’ issues, and review 
potential best practices to integrate into ordinance 
revisions. We will then meet with Tybee Island staff 
to review initial assessment and identify any major 
policy-related issues that may need to be brought 
forward to City Council.

Phase I :   PREPARING TO LAUNCH, the assessment 
phase  

This is the “getting to know you better” phase, where the Symbioscity Team will focus on getting familiar 
with the existing plans, initiatives, and current Land Development Code for Tybee Island.

- Page 86 -Item #8.



City Council Workshop 
The City Council workshop will focus on high-level 
policy changes to be considered as part of the 
LDC update. Symbioscity will develop the agenda, 
presentation, and appropriate collateral materials, 
to be reviewed and approved by staff in advance of 
the workshop. At the conclusion of the workshop, 
our team will prepare a memorandum for the City 
documenting the recommended policy positions 
and outcome of the workshop.

Citizen Advisory Committee Kick-Off
Following the City Council workshop, we will 
host the initial kick-off meeting with the Citizen 
Advisory Committee. The goals of this workshop 
will be to share high-level findings and over-arching 
recommendation as presented to City Council. 

The City may also want to consider including the 
Planning Commission in this initial meeting as well. 
Although the Planning Commission will not be 
involved in the minutia of the ordinance changes, 
they will be asked to provide a recommendation on 
the ordinance updates to City Council at the end of 
the process, so early engagement may be helpful in 
providing a foundation for what they can expect to 
see at the conclusion of the process.    

Town Hall Meeting
Depending on the recommended policy changes 
under consideration, it may be advisable to hold 
our first Town Hall meeting at this point. If needed, 
the goal of this meeting will be to share what 
we’ve learned about the alignment of the LDC 
with the City’s Master Plan.  This will also provide 
an opportunity to educate the community on the 
various approaches that can be used to implement 
the goals for Tybee Island.

Phase II :   CONFIRM THE DIRECTION, the consensus 
phase
The Land Development Code is a tool that directly relates to 4 of the 5 goals of Tybee’s Master Plan - 
development patterns, community preservation, sustainability, and community. Prior to diving into 
detailed changes, it is important to make sure the proposed LDC modifications will align with city policy.

- Page 87 -Item #8.



Our team will work collaboratively throughout the Land Development Code review, with Key 
Team Leaders taking the lead on various sections of the code as shown below, assisted by 
additional team members as needed.

Phase IIII:  CODE UPDATES, the churning phase

Moving from policy to code, the update of the regulations will be a continual feedback loop of draft, 
review, revise, repeat.  We will work in constant communication with the City staff as well as the Citizen 
Advisory Committee. 

Once we have established our general direction 
in Phase Two, we will begin the detailed review 
of the LDC. Key team members will each take the 
lead on various sections of the LDC for review. All 
recommended edits will be tracked and documented 
for review with Tybee Island. The Symbioscity Team 
will conduct the required review of the LDC as stated 
in the RFP. Based on the information in the RFP and 
shared at the pre-proposal meeting, we anticipate 
more in-depth review and potential edits in the 
areas shown below. This table also demonstrates 
our proposed structure and team assignments for 
conducting the in-depth review and development 
of recommendations.

We will hold regularly scheduled meetings with 
the City of Tybee Island to walk through the 
recommended edits. As we proceed through this 

detailed process, meetings will be scheduled with 
the citizen committee to review recommendations 
and provide feedback. Meetings with the Citizen 
Advisory Committee (CAC) will focus on the content 
of changes, rather than the line-by-line detail 
changes. Up to four (4) meetings with the CAC are 
anticipated in this phase. 

Once the full review of the LDC is complete, we will 
host a community open house to review proposed 
changes to the ordinance. If major changes are 
proposed, we may recommend moving the 
community open house earlier in the process. After 
all, we know Tybee has an active citizenry!

At the conclusion of Phase Two, the Symbioscity 
team will prepare a comprehensive draft of all 
revisions, including an executive summary or cover 
memo to highlight significant changes.

Symbioscity GMC Kimley-Horn

Facilitation + Engagement

Adherance to State & Federal Law

Best Practices 

Inventory of Non-Conforming Lots

Trees + Landscape

Parking

Home Occupations

Uses by RIght/Special Review

Signs

Overall Content + Approach

- Page 88 -Item #8.



Schedule

whether revision of the regulations, response to the 
comments, or some combination of both.

Update of the land development regulations will be 
a team effort with the City of Tybee Island and will 
require frequent communication.  The Symbioscity 
Team will be your partner – we will not work in 
a vacuum without the City’s valuable feedback 
and contributions. At the end of the day, these 
regulations belong to you. We just hope to make the 
journey a bit easier along the way.

Once the updated regulations have been fully 
vetted by the City and through the public process, 
the Symbioscity Team will shepherd this new code 
through the approval process. We will participate 
in both the Planning Commission and City Council 
adoption hearings and include providing a 
PowerPoint presentation at each of these meetings 
as a part of our scope of services. 

 The Symbioscity Team will gather all comments and 
questions and discuss the appropriate response, 

Phase IV:  ADOPTION, the implementation phase

Phase I:  Assessment

Phase II: Consensus
Council Workshop
Community Meeting* (1 - 2)

Phase III: Code Updates
Community Meetings* (4 - 5)

Phase IV: Adoption
Planning Commission
City Council Workshop
Public Hearing/Adoption

* Citizen Advisory Commitee or 
community meetings (6 total)

MONTHS

1 2 3 4 5 6

- Page 89 -Item #8.



Required Forms

- Page 90 -Item #8.



- Page 91 -Item #8.



- Page 92 -Item #8.



- Page 93 -Item #8.



ATTACHMENT B
CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT under O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b) (1)

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, stating affirma-
tively that the individual, firm or corporation which is engaged in the physical performance of services on behalf of CITY 
OF TYBEE ISLAND has registered with, is authorized to use and uses the federal work authorization program commonly 
known as E-Verify, or any subsequent replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and deadlines 
established in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91. Furthermore, the undersigned contractor will continue to use the federal work authori-
zation program throughout the contract period and the undersigned contractor will contract for the physical performance 
of services in satisfaction of such contract only with subcontractors who present an affidavit to the contractor with the 
information required by O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b). Contractor hereby attests that its federal work authorization user identifi-
cation number and date of authorization are as follows:

________________________
Federal Work Authorization User Identification Number

_________________________________
Date of Authorization

_________________________________
Name of Contractor

_________________________________
Name of Project

_________________________________
Name of Public Employer

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
Executed on ______, ___, 20__ in _____ (city), ______ (state).

_________________________________
Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent

_______________________________
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer or Agent

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE___ DAY OF _____, 20__.

_________________________________
NOTARY PUBLIC
My Commission Expires:

412062

5/2/11

Kimley-Horn and Associates

2023-773: Professional Services - Review of Land Development Code 

City of Tybee Island

June 12 Savannah GA23

Jamie N. Gwaltney, P.E., Associate

12 June 23

6/5/2027

- Page 94 -Item #8.



- Page 95 -Item #8.



- Page 96 -Item #8.



Insurance

In addition to the insurance coverages summarized on the Certificate of Insurance (attached), Symbioscity 
also carries a $1,000,000 umbrella policy. Our overall total coverage exceeds the requirements stated in 
the RFP.  

Symbioscity can acquire additional professional liability insurance if required by the City of Tybee. As re-
quired by the RFP, the cost of this additional insurance would be $800 for Symbioscity. 

Symbioscity is exempt from workers comp insurance requirements. 

- Page 97 -Item #8.



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

06/09/2023
THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE
POLICIES BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S),
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATIONIS WAIVED,
subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not
confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER
USAA INSURANCE AGENCY INC/PHS
65812846
The Hartford Business Service Center
3600 Wiseman Blvd
San Antonio, TX 78251

CONTACT
NAME:
PHONE
(A/C, No, Ext):

(888) 242-1430 FAX
(A/C, No):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC#

INSURED

SYMBIOSCITY LLC
PO BOX 10121
SAVANNAH GA 31412-0321

INSURER A :  Sentinel Insurance Company Ltd. 11000
INSURER B :  Continental Casualty Co. 20443
INSURER C :

INSURER D :
INSURER E :

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE
TERMS, EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
LTR

TYPE OF INSURANCE ADDL
INSR

SUBR
WVD

POLICY NUMBER POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/Y YYY)

LIMITS

A

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

X 65 SBM TE2161 04/10/2023 04/10/2024

EACH OCCURRENCE $2,000,000
CLAIMS-MADE X OCCUR DAMAGE TO RENTED

PREMISES (Ea occurrence)
$1,000,000

X General Liability MED EXP (Any one person) $10,000
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $2,000,000

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $4,000,000
POLICY X PRO-

JECT
LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $4,000,000

OTHER:

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea accident)

ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person)
ALL OWNED
AUTOS

SCHEDULED
AUTOS BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

HIRED
AUTOS

NON-OWNED
AUTOS

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per accident)

UMBRELLA LIAB
EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR
CLAIMS-
MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

DED RETENTION $
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY
ANY
PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

N/ A

PER
STATUTE

OTH-
ER

Y/N E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE -EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

B Professional Liability X 596553522 03/02/2023 03/02/2024 Each Claim Limit
Aggregate Limit

$1,000,000
$1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

Those usual to the Insured's Operations. Certificate holder is an additional insured per the Business Liability Coverage Form SS0008, attached to this
policy. Certificate Holder is an additional insured per the Professional Liability Coverage when required by contract.
CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION
City of Tybee Island
403 BUTLER AVE
TYBEE ISLAND GA 31328-9785

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED
BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2016/03) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

- Page 98 -Item #8.



- Page 99 -Item #8.



March 16, 2021

- Page 100 -Item #8.



- Page 101 -Item #8.



- Page 102 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

10. First Reading:  Sec 2-36 Compensation Charge - Mayor and Council   FOR DISCUSSION 

ONLY

- Page 103 -Item #10.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-26 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

AS TO SECTION 2-36 

SO AS TO CHANGE THE COMPENSATION OF THE  

MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL, TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE, 

TO REPEAL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES  

FOR THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia to 

adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

the Mayor and Council thereof, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under it police, zoning, 

and home rule powers, and 

 WHEREAS, the City is authorized to set the compensation of its elected officials in the 

manner established by state law, O.C.G.A. § 36-35-4; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has properly published the required notice of its intention to set the 

compensation of elected officials; and 

 WHEREAS, an existing ordinance, Section 2-36 needs to be amended so as to reflect the 

change; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, it is ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee Island 

that the code of ordinances, Section 2-36, shall be amended. 

SECTION 1 

 

 Section 2-36 will be amended as hereinafter shown with the increase in compensation to 

commence with the term of its elected officials beginning service as of January 1, 2024 and will 

read as follows: 

Sec. 2-36. Compensation of mayor and councilmembers. 

The mayor shall receive as compensation $1,000.00 per month. Councilmembers shall 

receive as compensation $700.00 per month. This compensation is intended to defray expenses 

incurred. This provision shall have application to the mayor and councilmembers assuming office 

in January 2024 and thereafter, subject to future amendments.  

  

- Page 104 -Item #10.



SECTION 2 

The sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable 

and, if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, or section of this ordinance shall be declared illegal 

or invalid by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such illegality 

shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this 

ordinance. 

SECTION 3 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION 4 

It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered if necessary to accomplish such 

intention.   

SECTION 5 

 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to the ordinances of the City.   

 

ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                                                 , 2023. 

 

______________________________ 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING: ______ 

SECOND READING: ______ 

ENACTED:     
 

 

EMH/Tybee/Ordinances/2023/Sec 2-36 Compensation 7-5-2023EMH 

- Page 105 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

13. Tybee Island Marine Science Center Minutes

- Page 106 -Item #13.



Minutes of May 22, 2023 
  
Present: Jim Alexander, Jim Bentley, Nancy Daves, Doug Duch, Jeanne Hutton, Dave 
Makel, Carol Pride, Mark Reed, Karen Robertson, Kathryn Williams, Ruthie Wilson, Katie 
Wohlust, and Executive Director, Chantal Audran. 
 
Welcome/Introductions:  Duch welcomed everyone and introduced the auditor, Sarah 
Richbourg. 
 
Audit Sarah Richbourg of Canady, Richbourg & Associates, LLP presented the completed 
audit for yearend 2022.  She had previously provided electronic copies of our 990.  
Richbourg has been auditing the TIMSC for 21 years and stated that our financial 
records are clean and accurately reflect the financial position of the organization.  
Hutton made a motion to accept the audit; Duch seconded; vote to accept was 
unanimous. 
 
Minutes of the March 20, 2023 meeting: Approved online by majority vote and 
submitted to the Clerk of Council, Tybee Island. 
 
Election of Treasurer:  Hutton made a motion to approve the appointment of Jim 
Alexander as board treasurer.  Duch seconded and the vote to approve the appointment 
was unanimous.   
 
Executive-Director Bimonthly Report:  Audran provided a comprehensive update on the 
2023 goals and objectives.   
    Communications: 

 Website is still in progress; additional information is being added and edits are 
underway. 

 The Tybee Sea Turtle Facebook page will move over to the center’s Facebook 
page on June 1. 

 Wayfinding signage for the lighthouse and center were installed with approval 
and support from the City. 

 The Turtle Trot realized a profit of 7k; 189 runners participated. 

 Upcoming Events: 
             June 1-8 Clean Beach Week 

June 8 - World Oceans Day 
June 29 – DNR Beach Week 
July 8 – SSU Student Research Day 
July 11-18 Shark Week 
TBD – Ike’s Release 

 TIMSC is working with the Tybee Post Theater on their Ocean Series.  Additional 
media opportunities include an upcoming podcast, increased presence on social 
media, and interviews on local morning shows. 

- Page 107 -Item #13.



 Audran assisted the Georgia Conservancy with signage for their dune project. 

 QR membership and admission codes have been posted and the informational 
trifold for hotels and rentals is in progress. 

 Programming 

 66 new volunteers 

 Sea turtle season is underway.   

 Our ADC (annual data collection) is being updated. 

 Admission fees will increase to $12 on June 1st; Program fees will increase from 
$15 to $20 and will include gallery admission. 

 Recent outreach programs: DNR Coastfest, Smoke Goes to School, Lazaretto Day, 
Earth Day, and STEM day 

 The Behind the Scenes (quarantine) display was completed. 

 Staff enrichment was held on Sapelo Island. 
Exhibit Fabrication  

 Joy Davis continues to work on the right whale exhibit and is being assisted by an 
artist from SCAD.  Audran is working with a GIS firm using actual data points 
from NOAA and DNR to create 1000 Miles of Danger.  This part of the right whale 
exhibit will involve an interactive table focusing on the challenges facing this 
endangered species.  A video wall and speakers will be ordered for this exhibit 
out of the NB exhibit fund. 

 The design schematics for the solar project are complete. 

 The marlin spike exhibit will soon be complete. 
Operations 

 16,394 visitors to date 

 Membership – 207 Sea Turtle and 7 Right Whale members 

 The solar pergola has been stained. 

 The center is now responsible for cleaning the temporary portable restrooms. 

 Audran participates in the diamond back terrapin project.  Over 75 bodies have 
been collected on Hwy 80 to date.  Data is submitted to GDOT and samples are 
collected for UGA. 

 Staff evaluations will be completed soon. 
Infrastructure 

 A meter for the generator has been purchased. 

 Two quotes have been obtained for the solar back-up generator. 

 A sink is being added in the downstairs classroom for squid dissection. 

 Elevator and fire inspections are underway. 
Finance Committee:   

 Alexander reviewed the current financial statements which continue to reflect 
positive performance through April. 

 Williams presented the proposed 2023-2028 wage schedule.  Alexander moved 
to approve.  Hutton seconded.  The vote was unanimous to approve. 

 Williams presented a proposal to secure short term insurance for staff.  Daves 
moved to approve.  Alexander seconded.  The vote was unanimous to approve. 

- Page 108 -Item #13.



 Williams presented proposed wage adjustments.  Robertson moved to approve.  
Wohlust seconded.  The vote was unanimous to approve. 

 Hutton presented the proposed PTO proposal.  Wilson moved to approve.  Daves 
seconded.  The vote was unanimous to approve. 
 

Infrastructure Committee: Reed shared an informative PowerPoint presentation and 
focused on energy use, solar production, and recommendations to reduce the power 
bill.  By analyzing the PB solar energy (12kw), peak time data, and rate schedule 
information, our power bill should be reduced by 10-15% annually if we switch to the 
time of use rate schedule.  Makel recommended charging the batteries with the overage 
during off-peak times.   
Communications:  Wilson thanked Robertson for her work in submitting press releases 
and garnering attention for the TIMSC.  She listed the following events for the 
fall/winter:  Pirate’s Fest (October), Right Whale (November), and the Christmas parade.  
Robertson shared that the center would be highlighted in an upcoming Savannah 
Magazine.   
 
Meeting adjourned. 
 
 

- Page 109 -Item #13.



File Attachments for Item:

14. Planning Commission Minutes June 12, 2023

- Page 110 -Item #14.



- Page 111 -Item #14.


	Top
	Item #1.	Minutes, Second Reading Millage
	20230622SecondReadingMillageMinutes

	Item #2.	Minutes,   Council Meeting, June 22, 2023
	20230622Minutes Budget and Millage

	Item #3.	Jan Leviner, Call to Election, November 7, 2023
	Call to Election

	Item #4.	Keith Howington, Update on City Hall renovation
	Item #5.	Kathryn Williams, Forever Tybee:  Beach benches and swings
	Item #6.	Julia Pearce:  Pilgrimage from Tybee Lazaretto to Ghana:  Door of No Return
	Adobe Scan 11 Jun 2023

	Item #7.	Special Review:  Sec 3-100 Beach, 708 Butler Avenue, CFK Properties, LLC
	SPECIAL REVIEW-708 BUTLER

	Item #8.	Award Symbioscity RFP,  Review of the Land Development Code
	LDC rfp response - Symbiosity_Redacted

	Item #9.	Resolution 2023-: Declare Local Emergency in Connection with Certain Events that would overwhelm the capacity of City Resources
	Item #10.	First Reading:  2023-26:  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change - Mayor and Council   FOR DISCUSSION ONLY
	Sec 2-36 Compensation 7-5-2023 EMH

	Item #11.	Bubba Hughes:  Shields Investment, Application for STR  PLACE  MARKER
	Item #12.	Brian West:  Land Bank and Remove dump fees for residents
	Item #13.	Tybee Island Marine Science Center Minutes
	Minutes of May 22

	Item #14.	Planning Commission Minutes June 12, 2023
	PC-NOD-708 BUTLER-6-2023

	Bottom

